VS.

Cause no. 2007-CP-01051-C
Lower Court # CR 96-317

State of MISSISSIPPI

FILED

Appellee

DEC 10 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

Brief For Appellant

*EVIDENTIARY HEARING
REQUESTED

Rodney L. Jones

D.O.C. # 79065

32 Alpha

Parchman, Ms. 38738

Pro-se, Rodney L. Jones

He's guilty and been in jail.
Recommend deny.

13

State of Mississippi

Appellee

Cause no. 2007-CF-01051-C2
Lower Court # CR96-317

Certificate of Interested Persons

Statement of The Case

This appeal Proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lee County, MISSISSIPPI and an order denying Petition for Post-Conviction relief and to vacate and to Set Aside Conviction and Sentence or in the Alternative for out of Time Appeal against Rodney L. Jones and, from the thirty-five (35) years mandatory sentence following a trial held the 18th day of November 1997, Honorable Frank A. Russell, Circuit Judge Presiding; and Honorable Thomas J. Gardner, III, Circuit Judge Presiding over Post-Conviction, Cause no. CV07-055-GL. Rodney L. Jones is Presently incarcerated with the MISSISSIPPI Department of Corrections at the MISSISSIPPI State Penitentiary.

FACTS

During the August Term, 1991, Petitioner was indicted for three counts of Grand larceny, in cause numbers 21,023, 21,024, 21,027. On the 25th day of October, 1991, Petitioner went before Judge Thomas Gardner to accept a Pre-arranged Plea agreement that was conclusively agreed upon by the Prosecutor and defendant's Counsel. The recommendation consisted of five years on each Charge, that that five years was to be suspended, that

violated that Agreement by forcing Petitioner to Complete the RID Program, Against Petitioners Will. Petitioner informed the Judge that he didn't want to accept the Plea if the Pre-arranged Plea wasn't adhered to. After a brief discussion with Counsel, Petitioner was Coerced into accepting the RID Program. That on this same day and date, Petitioner was ordered to the RID Program and the Court reserved the right of Judicial review in 180 days. That after the Completion of the RID, Petitioner was to be transported to the Greenwood/LeFlore County restitution Center. That after the Completion of the restitution, Petitioner was to be Placed on five years Supervised Probation. That at this same hearing, the Judge Witheld imposition of Sentence Pending Further order of the Court in Cause no's 21,024 and 21,027.

That on the 19th day of October, 1992, Judge Gardner entered an order suspending Petitioner's time because of successfully completing Phase one of the RID Program and ordered that after Completion of the restitution, Petitioner should report immediately to the Court so Specification of the terms of his Probation could be rendered. Petitioner arrived at the restitution on the 19th day of October, 1992. On the 28th day of October, 1992, Petitioner stopped attending the Greenwood/LeFlore Co. restitution Program. On the 30th day of December, 1992, Petitioner was apprehended. Petitioner would call the Courts attention to the fact that he didn't leave the restitution until the 28th of Oct. 1992. That Judge Gardner fabricated an order dated the 23rd day of October 1992, suspending Sentence and Placing Petitioner on Probation. But Petitioner was already at the restitution from the order dated the 19th day of October 1992. The order sending Petitioner to the restitution Center, dated the 14th day of October, 1992 was received at CMC Records Dept. on the 22nd day of October, 1992. The fabricated order allegedly placing Petitioner on Probation and sending him to the restitution is dated the 23rd of October, 1992.

That on the 19th day of January, 1993, Petitioner was heard

That at the bifurcated hearings, the Judge denied Petitioners
witness to give mitigating testimony Pursuant to U.C.C.R. 10.04
Counsel objected to the Proof submitted to Prove Petitioner
was an habitual. The Prosecutor never proved that Rodney L. Jones
was actually the Rodney L. Jones convicted of the previous felonies.

sentence by the Court Violating a probation that was never imposed, thereby causing the sentence to be illegal and these Constitutional violations were used to enhance the Present sentence. By these means, that would make the Present sentence imposed illegal, because illegality was applied from the grand larceny charges. Appellant's evidence/exhibits support his claim.

illegal Probation / Violation thereof rendered a nullity, an illegal sentence imposed by the Judge abusing his authority and these violations used for enhancement Purpose.

Petitioner would assert to this Court that the illegal Sentence / Probation rendered in Cause numbers 21,023, 21,024 and 21,027 was used to enhance Petitioner's Subsequent and Current Sentence in Cause no. CR96-317, in the Circuit Court of Lee County, Miss., and therefore allows Petitioner standing to Challenge the legality of such Conviction and Sentence. Phillips v. State, 401 So. 2d 476 (Miss. 1982); Culberson v. State, 612 So. 2d 341, 342-47 (Miss. 1992); Quinn v. State, 739 So. 2d 419, 420 (Miss. App. 1999). The Federal Courts have rationalized that a Petitioner could attack a Prior Conviction used to enhance his Punishment because the Jurisdictional requirement of "in Custody" is satisfied by reading the Petition as a Challenge to the Current Conviction. Dilworth v. Johnson, 215 F.3d 497, 500 (5th Cir. 2000); Citing Malena v. Cook, 490 U.S. 488, 493-94, 109 S.Ct. 1923, 1926-27, 104 L.Ed. 2d 540 (1989). See also, Herbst v. Scott, 42 F.3d 902, 905 (5th Cir. 1995).

In Kennedy v. State, 626 So. 2d 103, 105 (Miss. 1993), the Court held that "Where it is clear from the record that the court" has exceeded its statutory authority in sentencing and a fundamental Constitutional right may be involved, such claims are exempt from Procedural bars". The Circuit Court overstepped its authority when it violated a Probation decree that was never factually implemented because Petitioner hadn't completed the restitution as ordered.

The law is that Petitioner is entitled to the relief sought, to have this case set aside and declared illegal where the Plea was Consummated upon an agreement that was not adhered to and the illegal Sentence was embraced by the Circuit Court

to participate in any RID Program. The Judge should have set a trial date since he didn't adhere to the Plea agreement.

Vittino v. State, 556 So.2d 1062 (Miss. 1999)

The trial Court acted unjustly and unfairly, thereby abusing his discretion by forcing the Petitioner to accept the RID. The Court coerced Petitioner by threats of giving him the maximum time allowed for grand larceny on each count, thereby persuading him to enter a Plea. It has been held in Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed. 2d 427 (1971), that "when a guilty Plea rests in any significant degree on a Promise or agreement of the Prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such Promise must be fulfilled. Id. at 262, 92 S.Ct. at 499 Citing Presley v. State, 792 So.2d 950; 2001 Miss. Lexis 1532 Miss.S.Ct. 2001).

The Petitioner avers that the 35 year sentence in Cause no. CR96-317, for the charge of armed robbery and enhancement pursuant to M.C.A. § 99-19-81 is an illegal sentence. The Court utilized illegal prior convictions for enhancement. The illegality of the prior convictions stems from the fact that the Petitioner never signed any Probation agreement, no Probation officer was appointed and the order dated the 19th day of October, 1992, supercedes the fabricated order dated the 23rd of October, 1992, revoking a Probation that Petitioner was never on. Pursuant to M.C.A. § 47-7-33, in pertinent part, "In placing any defendant on Probation, the Court or Judge shall direct that such defendant be under the supervision of the department of Corrections. No order exist placing Petitioner on supervised Probation of the dept. of Corr. No field officer was appointed as evident from the alleged order. (see exhibit J). Therefore, is no Probation to violate and Petitioner's Constitution."

Understand the terms and Conditions of Probation only then
Could it have been said that Petitioner violated Conditions of
his Probation. The Courts has held that "due Process requires
that the trial Judge at least orally inform the defendant of the
terms and Conditions upon which his suspended sentence is
Contingent before it may be Properly revoked for the violation
of those terms and Conditions. Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S.
471, 33 L.Ed. 2d 484, 92 S.Ct. 2593 (1972); Citing Artis v.
State, 643 So. 2d 533; 1994 Miss. Lexis 468. The Courts reversed
in this case because they found that the Judge didn't follow
the Procedures set out in M.C.A. §§ 47-7-35; 47-7-37. For the
Same Stated reasons in Artis, Id., Petitioner sentence should
be deemed illegal and doesn't meet the Criteria for enhance-
ment.

The Court allege that the Petitioner violated the terms
of his Probation by . . . "Failing to successfully complete the
Program of the Greenwood/Leflore Co. restitution center by
abandoning the restitution center on the 28th day of October, 1992.
But exhibit 'D' show that the Petitioner was never legally on
Probation, rendering the Probation invalid and illegal. The Court
did advise the Petitioner that he would be given Probation,"
"not" what any of the terms and Conditions would be. The Court
also advised the Petitioner that it would be based on success-
ful Completion of the RID and restitution. But the Courts
violated the alleged Probation for a specific term "N", which
the Court can not prove by clear and Convencing evidence
that the Petitioner was Cognitive of the Conditions of the
alleged Probation that was never legally imposed. Artis, Supra.

III.

Prosecutions. Sixth amendment right to counsel in criminal proceedings applies to states through the Wyamond v. Gideon v. Wyamond right.

372 U.S. 335, 342 (1963). The courts would say that one doesn't have a right to counsel at a revocation hearing. But this proceeding / hearing was more of an adversarial renegotiations / repleading to the same charges. It has been acknowledged that "right to counsel attached at initiation of plea

negotiation. U.S. v. Gideon, 156 F.3d 376, 379 (2d Cir. 1981). It stands logically that petitioner had a right to renegotiation / repleading hearing. This denial of counsel violates due process clause of the Wyamond. The cumulative errors of the sentencing judge worked to make the sentence imposed illegal and the illegality of said sentence can not be used to enhance another sentence under 99-18-XL.

Gray v. State, 605 So. 2d 791, 792 (Miss. 1990), protects against multiple punishment for the same offense. Petitioner was subjected to multiple punishments. He was ordered to the RID, then restitution and probation, finding that the court illegally violated that probation. Petitioner was ordered to replead guilty in cause no. 3 01,004 and 01,007 and was sentence to serve a term of 9 (1/2) years on each charge can current. Even though petitioner plead guilty to the charges does not waive his double jeopardy claim. Menna v. New York, 423 U.S. 61, 60, 96 S.Ct. 241, 46 L.Ed. 2d 195 (1975)

Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21, 30, 94 S.Ct. 2098, 110 L.Ed. 2d 608 (1974)

III.

Counsel objected at trial (T.T.) to the methods used to prove Rodney L. Jones was an habitual. No certified copies from M.A.C. nor clerk of court was submitted. No Pen-Pack, Verifying 12-1-1 or state Pen-Pack, Verifying 12-1-1

The law is explicit when it states that the Prosecution must Prove the Prior Offenses by competent evidence. Keyes v. State, 549 So.2d 949 (Miss. 1989). The Prosecutor didn't forego these Procedures and Counsel's objection reflect upon the record that it was never Competently Proven that this was Rodney L. Jones being referred to.

At the bifurcated hearing required under the recidivist Statutes, the State must Prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant meets the requirements for sentencing as a habitual offender. Bandy v. State, 475 So.2d 486 (Miss. 1986). A reasonable doubt exist if the Prosecutor didn't Prove that it was actually the same individual being referred to.

is entitled to have his sentence vacated and set aside, or to have the case remanded for new trial or for resentencing without the habitual status being applied.

Respectfully Submitted,
M. Rodney L. Jones
Rodney L. Jones, Pro-Se

Certificate

I, Rodney L. Jones, do hereby certify that I have this the 10th day of Dec, 2007, mailed a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing Brief of Appellant to Hon. Thomas Gardner, III, Circuit Judge, P.O. Box 762, Tupelo, MS. 38802; Hon. Frank Russell, Circuit Judge, P.O. Box 762, Tupelo, MS. 38802; Hon. Jim Hood, Attorney General, P.O. Box 220, Jackson, MS. 39205 and Supreme Court Clerk Betty Sephton, P.O. Box 249, Jackson, MS. 39205, all by U.S. Mail, First Class Postage Pre-Paid.

M. Rodney L. Jones #79065
Rodney L. Jones, Pro-Se
D.O.C. # 79065
32 Alcatraz
Parchman, MS. 38738