**RODNEY L. JONES** 

**APPELLANT** 

FILED

VS.

MAR 2 0 2008

NO. 2007-CA-1051

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Jones argument that he was subjected to an unauthorized and illegal probation and that and that in violation thereof, the trial court rendered an illegal sentenced and the violations were used for enhancement purpose is without merit and should be dismissed. There is no requirement that a defendant sign a probation order for it to be valid. Jones' appears to be contesting the sentence in CR 21,023, one of the felonies which was used convict Jones as a habitual offender. That challenge must be brought as a PCR pursuant to that conviction and is improperly brought pursuant to Jones' conviction and sentence for armed robbery. Jones other two convictions support his conviction pursuant to the habitual offender statute. The trial court's orders of October 19 and October 23 are consistent with one another and are both correct and effective orders. To the extent that Jones argues that his pleas was not voluntary and intelligent in CR 21,023, 21,024 and 21,027, that claim is improperly brought pursuant to his conviction for armed robbery, Jones' does not submit sufficient evidence or affidavits to support such a claim, and the claim is time barred pursuant to the post-conviction relief statute. Jones' claims are all without merit and the judgment of the trial court dismissing Jones' Motion for Post-Conviction Relief should be affirmed.

ABBUS VATABLE 1

I. Jones argument that he was subjected to an unauthorized and illegal probation and that and that in violation thereof, the Trial Court rendered an illegal sentenced and the violations were used for enhancement purpose is without merit and should be dismissed.

Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-19-81 (as amended) provides that:

Every person convicted in this state of a felony who shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony or federal crime upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and who shall have been sentenced to separate terms of one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere, shall be sentenced to the maximum term of imprisonment prescribed for such felony and such sentence shall not be reduced or suspended nor shall such person be eligible for parole or probation.

On October 25, 1991, Jones pleaded guilty to Grand Larceny in CR 21,027, CR 21,024 and CR 21,023, pursuant to separate grand jury indictments filed September 4, 1991. Jones was sentenced to five years in the custody of the MDOC in the matter of CR 21,023. On October 23, 1992, the trial judge entered an order suspending the balance of Jones' sentence and placing him on supervised probation. As a condition of his probation, Jones was to successfully complete the program of the Greenwood-Leflore County Restitution Center and pay costs of \$489.00 and \$1,974.71 in restitution. On January 4, 1993, the State filed a Petition to Revoke Probation and to Impose a Suspended Sentence alleging that Jones had violated his probation by failing to complete the program of the Greenwood-Leflore County Restitution center and by absconding supervision on October 28, 1992. Jones probation and five years of suspension of sentence were

18, 2006, Jones was indicted for Armed Robbery as a habitual offender pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-19-81, 1972 (as amended). The indictment recited Jones' convictions for Grand Larceny in CR 21,023, CR 21,024 and CR 21,027 as the basis for his indictment pursuant to § 99-19-81. The record does not reflect any challenge to the indictment and Jones was convicted of Armed Robbery and was sentenced on November 18, 1997, as a Habitual Offender, to serve a term of thirty-five years in the custody of the MDOC. Pursuant to § 99-19-81, Jones sentence could not be reduced or suspended and he was not eligible for parole. Jones moved the Trial Court for appeals from this sentence. Jones argued that his sentence was illegal because he did not sign the probation order. On May 15, 2007, the Trial Court held that Jones' failure to sign the probation order was irrelevant, holding that Jones had clearly violated probation and was a habitual offender and, therefore, his sentence was not illegal. The Trial Court held that all other claims were barred by Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-39-5(2). The Trial Court denied Jones' Petition for Post-Conviction Relief and to Vacate and Set Aside Conviction and Sentence or in the Alternative for Out of Time Appeal. (C.P. 55) On June 18, 2007, Jones filed his Notice of Appeal and this appeal ensued. (C.P. 60)

Jones' argument that the sentence resulting from his conviction for Armed Robbery is fatally flawed because he was convicted as a habitual offender pursuant to § 99-19-81 and that the indictment relied on a conviction for which he was wrongly sentenced. Jones alleges that the trial court coerced him to accept assignment to the RID program and that he did not sign the probation order and that therefore the sentence in CR 21,023. However, the instant appeal for

Jones would have to file a separate PCR Motion under one of those causes. In *Pruitt v. State*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that:

Pruitt's sixth assignment of error is that he was denied due process because the time bar limited his ability to attack his habitual offender status in post-conviction proceedings. *Phillips v. State*, 421 So.2d 476, 481 (Miss.1982), established that at a sentencing hearing to determine habitual offender status, the trial court's review of enhancing felonies is limited to facial review of the convictions to determine voluntariness. *Id.* Any attack upon an enhancing felony which goes beyond the face of the record of the conviction must be prosecuted in a collateral proceeding. Pruitt argues the Phillips rule prevented review of the 1993 sentence at the habitual offender sentencing hearing, and he was unable to attack the sentence on PCR because of the three year limitation. He alleges that he neglected to attack the 1993 sentence within three years after entry of judgment because he lacked incentive to do so until the sentence was used for enhancement.

*Pruitt v. State* 846 So.2d 271, 274 -275 (Miss.Ct.App., 2002) (emphasis added)

Were Jones to file a petition for post conviction relief as to his plea entered October 25, 1991 in the matter of CR 21,023, a charge of grand larceny, his petition would be time barred, since Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-39-5(2) (Rev.2007) states, in pertinent part, "[a] motion for relief under this article shall be made ... in [the] case of a guilty plea, within three (3) years after entry of the judgment of conviction." Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-5(2).

Jones also argues that his counsel objected at trial that the proof of his prior convictions was inadequate, however, he does not provide a record that reflects the objections of his counsel or the method of proof used by the prosecutor. Jones also argues that he was not afforded a

"[T]here is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct and the burden is on the Appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court." Acker v. State, 797 So.2d 966, 971 (Miss.2001) (quoting Branch v. State, 347 So.2d 957, 958 (Miss.1977)). "We have stated many times that it is the duty of the appellant to present a record of trial which is sufficient to support his assignments of error." Acker, 797 So.2d at 971 (quoting Peterson v. State, 518 So.2d 632, 638 (Miss.1987) (citations omitted)). In Acker, this Court found that "[t]here is no hearing transcript, and therefore no basis to support Acker's claim that the trial court erroneously denied her motion. Because of this fact, the presumption that the judgment of the trial court was correct must prevail." Id.

Juarez vs. State, 965 So.2d 1061 (Miss. 2007)

Further, Jones contends that his probation was illegal because he "never signed the probation agreement, no probation officer was appointed and the order dated the 19<sup>th</sup> day of October 1992, supercedes the fabricated Order dated the 23<sup>rd</sup> of October, 1992, revoking a probation the Petitioner was never on." First, there is no requirement that Jones sign a "probation agreement". Second, the Order Suspending Balance of Sentence and Placing Defendant on Supervised Probation is fully within the power of the trial court pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 47-7-33 1972 (as amended). Further, where the trial court elects to suspend imposition of a sentence during a period of probation, this statute continues to vest in the court power subsequently, in the event of a violation of the terms of a defendant's probation, to impose any sentence which could have originally been imposed. *Leonard v. State*, 271 So.2d 445 (Miss.1973).

should be brought in a separate petition for post conviction relief from that sentence. Were such a petition filed, it would be time-barred. If the court were to reach the merits of this issue in the instant appeal, Jones was not per se entitled to counsel at his revocation hearing, and he has not provided a record which would allow the court to determine that he should have been provided counsel. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held:

...[P]robationers (and parolees) do not "have, per se, a right to counsel at revocation hearings."(citations omitted). Whether probationers have a right to counsel must be answered "on a case-by-case basis in the exercise of a sound discretion by the state authority charged with responsibility for administering the probation and parole system." (citations omitted) Because the "facts and circumstances in [revocation] hearings are susceptible of almost infinite variation," the United States Supreme Court opined that "[i]t is neither possible nor prudent to attempt to formulate a precise and detailed set of guidelines" for determining when counsel must be provided in order to meet due process requirements. (citation omitted) "Presumptively, it may be said that counsel should be provided in cases [which, for example, are] ... complex or otherwise difficult to develop." (citations omitted) Finally, "[i]n every case in which a request for counsel at a ... hearing is refused, the grounds for refusal should be stated succinctly in the record." (citation omitted)

Riely v. State, 562 So.2d 1206 (Miss. 1990).

Finally, even if Jones were wrongfully sentenced in CR 21,023, he still served concurrent five year sentences in CR 21,024 and CR 21,027. Section 99-19-81 requires only two felony convictions with sentences of one year or more. The provisions of Section 99-19-81 were met for purposes of sentencing Jones as a habitual offender pursuant to Section 99-19-81 even if the sentence in CR 21,023 were illegal as Jones' alleges.

probation and was a habitual offender and, therefore, his sentence was not illegal. All other claims are barred by Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-39-5(2). The trial court's order dismissing Jones' Motion for Post Conviction Relief should be affirmed.

## **CONCLUSION**

Jones' assignments of error are without merit his Petition for Post Conviction Relief should be denied and all judgments and rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.